FILED
December 7, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

No. 73518-7-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JESSE LEDERLE,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SKAGIT COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Jan Trasen Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
D. ARGUMENT6
THE ADMISSION OF UNRELIABLE "DOG TRACK" EVIDENCE VIOLATED MR. LEDERLE'S DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO A CONVICTION ONLY BY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE
a. Reliability of evidence is the cornerstone of due process, which is essential to a fair trial6
b. The trial court admitted dog-tracking evidence, although it lacked the proper foundation for admissibility9
c. Because the dog-tracking evidence lacked the essential foundation for admissibility, Mr. Lederle was convicted based upon insufficient evidence; the remedy is reversal
E. CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Supreme Court Decisions

<u>City of Seattle v. Slack</u> , 113 Wn.2d 850, 784 P.2d 494 (1989)						
State v. Loucks, 98 Wn.2d 563, 656 P.2d 480 (1983) 7, 10, 11, 12, 13, 16						
State v. Cantu, 156 Wn.2d 819, 132 P.3d 725 (2006)						
Washington Court of Appeals						
<u>State v. Ahlfinger</u> , 50 Wn. App. 466, 749 P.2d 190 (1988)						
State v. Salinas, 169 Wn. App. 210, 279 P.3d 917 (2012)						
State v. Socolof, 28 Wn. App. 407, 623 P.2d 733 (1981)						
United States Supreme Court						
California v. Green, 399 U.S. 149, 90 S.Ct. 1930, 26 L.Ed.2d 489 (1970) 7						
<u>Chambers v. Mississippi</u> , 410 U.S. 284, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973)						
Illinois v. Caballes, 543 U.S. 405, 125 S.Ct. 834, 160 L.Ed.2d 842 (2005)8						
<u>In re Winship</u> , 397 U.S. 358, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970) 15						
Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 99 S.Ct. 628, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1970) 16						
Washington Constitution						
Const. art. I, § 3						
United States Constitution						
U.S. Const. amend. XIV						

Other Courts

State v. Storm, 125 Mont. 346, 238 P.2d 1161 (1951)	, 9					
Other Authorities						
Rex A. Stockham, Dennis L. Slavin, & William Kift, <u>Specialized Use of Human Scent in Criminal Investigations</u> , Federal Bureau of Investigation, Vol. 6, No. 3 (July 2004)						

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. In violation of Mr. Lederle's right to due process of law secured by the Fourteenth Amendment and article I, section 3, the trial court erred in admitting testimony concerning dog-tracking evidence, as it was unreliable.
- 2. In violation of due process, the trial court relied upon dogtracking evidence without sufficient corroborating evidence to support a conviction.
- 3. The State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt every essential element of the charges, in violation of Mr. Lederle's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
- 4. The State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that there was "a consistent track from the pickup truck all the way to where the defendant was discovered." (FF 40).
- 5. The trial court's findings of fact were insufficient to identify Mr. Lederle as the perpetrator of the crimes charged.
- 6. The trial court erred in concluding the State had proved the element of identity, as the court's findings fail to support the court's conclusions of law. (CL 1, 2).

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The Fourteenth Amendment guarantee of due process requires that the evidence used to convict a criminal defendant be reliable. Where the State failed to show that a dog that allegedly "tracked" to Mr. Lederle: (1) had a proven record of successful tracks, (2) followed the track of the guilty party, or (3) tracked from the source of the crime location, did the trial court err in finding the dog-tracking evidence met the threshold of admissibility?
- 2. Because of the uncertain reliability of dog-tracking evidence, Washington courts require that tracking evidence be viewed with caution, unless corroborated by other admissible evidence sufficient to support a conviction. Where identity was the sole contested issue at trial, and where the State relied exclusively on the dog-tracking evidence due to a lack of other evidence connecting Mr. Lederle to the crime, was the evidence presented insufficient to support a conviction?
- 3. Conclusions of law unsupported by findings of fact cannot stand. The trial court entered no findings of fact to support the inference Mr. Lederle was identified as the perpetrator of the charged crimes. Since identity was the sole contested issue at trial, do the lack

of sufficient findings to support the conclusions of law require reversal?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 23, 2015, someone stole a Ford pickup truck from Draper Valley Farms in Skagit County. RP 26-28.¹ The culprit drove the truck away from the Draper Valley property, past Mount Vernon Police Officer Chester Curry, who was standing on Stewart Street. RP 98. Officer Curry, who was in uniform, hopped into his marked patrol car and engaged the car thief in a chase. RP 102-05. The officer estimated his own speed at 60-70 miles per hour. <u>Id</u>.

When Officer Curry caught up to the stolen truck, the truck had stopped in a residential area. RP 106. The previously new vehicle seemed to be in poor condition; it had blown a tire, was "revving extremely loud," and the officer was "seeing sparking from the rear of the vehicle." RP 104-05. From his patrol car, Officer Curry watched as the driver of the truck opened the driver's side door and fled through a yard. Id. at 106. The officer could not see the driver's face, but he described the driver as male, of medium height and build, and said he was wearing a short-sleeved shirt with bright white on the T-shirt. RP

¹ The verbatim report of proceedings consists of a primary volume from the bench trial conducted on May 4, 2015, which is referred to as "RP."

107. Officer Curry waited in his car and radioed for back-up, including a canine officer. RP 106-07.

Police officers also interviewed Melinda Mason, a Mount

Vernon resident, who was standing on her porch smoking a cigarette.

RP 17. She called the police when she saw a man coming out of her neighbor's building. Id. Ms. Mason first noticed the police "were in the wrong neighborhood," since she could see the blue and red lights behind her. Id. Following her call, the police arrived near her home with a tracking dog within a few minutes. RP 17. Ms. Mason could not identify the man she saw walking out of her neighbor's building; she described him as a white man wearing a blue shirt. RP 23-24. Ms. Mason testified that she watched the man for five minutes before he walked quickly into the wooded area. RP 22-24.

Approximately 20 minutes after Officer Curry called for backup, Whatcom County Sheriff Department police officer Jason Nyhus, a K-9 handler, arrived with his dog, Hyde. RP 65. Officer Nyhus instructed Hyde to begin a track, but he did not have Hyde begin the track at the location of the stolen truck, in order to obtain the scent of the suspect, as the officer originally intended. RP 69. Instead, the officer had Hyde begin at the location where Ms. Mason had seen a man running into the woods. <u>Id</u>. at 69, 88, 91-92.

Although Officer Nyhus did not share any information about his or Hyde's training or their record for successful tracking, he did state that Hyde has been trained "to look for humans." RP 71. Following Officer Nyhus's command, Hyde tracked through Ms. Mason's backyard, tracking in a northeasterly direction until the area became wooded and more remote. RP 71-73. After a short track, Hyde alerted on Mr. Lederle. RP 74. Mr. Lederle did not respond to Officer Nyhus's commands to come out, or to his warnings that the dog would be "deployed" unless Lederle complied. RP 74-75. Officer Nyhus "commanded the dog to bite the suspect," by having the dog bite Mr. Lederle twice – in the forearm and in the buttocks. RP 75. Mr. Lederle yelled, "Why am I being attacked? I was just sleeping here." He also stated that he was a transient. RP 124-25. Upon his arrest, Mr. Lederle was transported to the hospital with several puncture wounds from the attack. RP 61-62, 81-82. Mr. Lederle was wearing a black shirt. RP 137.

No witness confirmed that Mr. Lederle was the same man who had been seen earlier. Officer Curry could not confirm Mr. Lederle

was the driver he had seen exit the stolen truck, and Ms. Mason could not confirm he was the man she had seen walking through her yard. RP 17-18, 24, 107.

Mr. Lederle was charged with attempting to elude a pursuing motor vehicle and possession of a stolen motor vehicle. CP 26-27. He was also charged with several misdemeanors, to which he pled guilty, including resisting arrest and making a false report.²

He timely appeals. CP 29.

D. ARGUMENT

THE ADMISSION OF UNRELIABLE "DOG TRACK" EVIDENCE VIOLATED MR. LEDERLE'S DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO A CONVICTION ONLY BY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE.

a. Reliability of evidence is the cornerstone of due process, which is essential to a fair trial.

An accused person has the right to a fair trial, and this right includes the guarantee that the evidence used to convict him will meet the most basic requirements of fairness and reliability in the ascertainment of guilt or innocence. U.S. Const. amend. XIV;

Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 302, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d

² Mr. Lederle was charged with making a false report, due to a 911 call made from his cell phone while he was walking in the woods. RP 36-38, 41-45.

297 (1973); see also State v. Ahlfinger, 50 Wn. App. 466, 472-73, 749 P.2d 190 (1988) (upholding exclusion of polygraph evidence, although relevant and helpful to accused's defense, given "the State's legitimate interest in excluding inherently unreliable testimony."). "Due process does not permit a conviction based . . . on evidence so unreliable and untrustworthy that it may be said that the accused had been tried by a kangaroo court." California v. Green, 399 U.S. 149, 187 n. 20, 90 S.Ct. 1930, 26 L.Ed.2d 489 (1970) (Harlan, J., concurring).

In Washington, dog tracking evidence is admissible only if a sufficient evidentiary foundation is laid to demonstrate the evidence's reliability. State v. Loucks, 98 Wn.2d 563, 568, 656 P.2d 480 (1983). The proponent of the evidence must show:

(1) the handler was qualified by training and experience to use the dog, (2) the dog was adequately trained in tracking humans, (3) the dog has, in actual cases, been found by experience to be reliable in pursuing human track, (4) the dog was placed on track where circumstances indicated the guilty party to have been, and (5) the trail had not become so stale or contaminated as to be beyond the dog's competency to follow.

Id. (quoting State v. Socolof, 28 Wn. App. 407, 411, 623 P.2d 733 (1981)).

The <u>Loucks</u> Court emphasized that the "dangers inherent in the use of dog tracking evidence" can only be alleviated by the presence of

"corroborating evidence identifying the accused," in order to sustain a conviction. 98 Wn.2d at 567.

In <u>Loucks</u>, a police dog trailed a scent from the scene of a burglary to a nearby residence, where the defendant was found sleeping in a stairwell. <u>Id</u>. at 565. The defendant in <u>Loucks</u> was convicted, even though he was excluded as a source for the blood and fingerprints at the burglary scene and nothing else seemed to tie him to the crime. The Supreme Court reversed based on insufficient evidence, holding that in addition to the above conditions for the admission of dog-tracking evidence, such evidence must be supported by sufficient corroborating evidence to sustain a conviction. <u>Id</u>. at 567-69.

A minority of states refuse to admit evidence of dog-tracking altogether, apparently agreeing with Justice Souter: "[t]he infallible dog, however, is a creature of legal fiction." Illinois v. Caballes, 543 U.S. 405, 411, 125 S.Ct. 834, 160 L.Ed.2d 842 (2005) (Souter J., dissenting). In State v. Storm, the Montana Supreme Court decried our country's "vicious" legacy of bloodhounds to track and terrorize fugitive slaves. 125 Mont. 346, 383-84, 238 P.2d 1161 (1951) ("The slaves were kept intimidated, and these dogs were doing their work effectively, regardless of their accuracy."). Montana held the

unreliability of dog-tracking evidence, due to the human trainer's influence over the animal – as well as the court's grave concerns over the brutality of the practice – makes such evidence inadmissible. 125 Mont. at 376.

b. The trial court admitted dog-tracking evidence, although it lacked the proper foundation for admissibility.

This case resembles <u>Loucks</u>, as the trial court admitted dog-tracking evidence without sufficient "corroborating evidence identifying the accused as the perpetrator of the crime." 98 Wn.2d at 567.

Like the defendant in Loucks, no DNA evidence tied Mr.

Lederle to the crime scene – here, the stolen vehicle. As in Loucks, no party identified Mr. Lederle as the person driving or exiting the vehicle, or attempting to elude the police. RP 107 (Officer Curry could not see driver or identify him). No witness identified Mr. Lederle as the person walking in the neighborhood, either. RP 17 (Melinda Mason could not see the face of man near neighbor's garage or in woods). The record indicates that no "confirmatory" identification was conducted, once Mr. Lederle was arrested in the woods, in order to verify that he was the same individual that Officer Curry had seen exit the truck. Ms. Mason

testified that although she watched the man in her yard for five minutes, she, too, did not give an identification following Mr. Lederle's arrest. RP 18, 24.

As to the <u>Loucks</u> factors for admissibility of the dog-tracking evidence, the State failed to establish three of the five conditions for admissibility of Officer Nyhus's testimony concerning the tracking.

First, as to both factors (2) and (3), the State failed to show the dog was adequately trained in tracking humans, or that "the dog has, in actual cases, been found by experience to be <u>reliable</u> in pursuing human track." <u>Loucks</u>, 98 Wn.2d at 566 (emphasis added).

Unlike in <u>Loucks</u>, or in other cases involving dog-tracking evidence, the canine officer here failed to provide substantive testimony about Hyde's specific training and experience. RP 66-68. Officer Nyhus, although an experienced officer with 16 years in the canine unit alone, conceded that Hyde was "a new dog to me; so I've had him for about a year." RP 66 (explaining he has worked with a total of three dogs over his 16-year career). At the time of the track which led police to Mr. Lederle, Officer Nyhus estimated that Hyde was only 20 months old. RP 85. Perhaps due to Hyde's inexperience,

Officer Nyhus neglected to share whether Hyde had a record for successful tracking of humans leading to arrests, convictions, or at all.

Second, the State did not establish <u>Loucks</u> factor (4): that "the dog was placed on track where circumstances indicated the guilty party to have been." <u>Loucks</u>, 98 Wn.2d at 566. Rather than starting the track at the stolen truck, as Officer Nyhus had intended, the officer testified that he suddenly decided to start the track at the location where the neighbor had seen a figure walking into the woods. RP 88. Therefore, Hyde was not placed on track to pursue the vehicle-thief's scent at all, as required by <u>Loucks</u>. Hyde, rather, was asked to pursue the scent of the person walking into the woods, who ultimately turned out to be Mr. Lederle.

This violates the "conditions precedent" established by <u>Loucks</u>, since if the track does not start at the crime scene (here, the stolen truck), the dog alerting to Mr. Lederle in the woods only connects him to the woods, not to the stolen truck. <u>Loucks</u>, 98 Wn.2d at 566 (dog-track evidence insufficient without other corroborating evidence of identification); Rex A. Stockham, Dennis L. Slavin, & William Kift, <u>Specialized Use of Human Scent in Criminal Investigations</u>, Federal Bureau of Investigation, Forensic Science Communications, Vol. 6, No.

3 (July 2004). As the FBI's own publication cautions: "Identifying someone's scent at a crime scene is not an indication of complicity. It simply establishes a direct or indirect relationship to the scene."

Stockham, Slavin, & Kift, FBI, supra.

This Court has only found dog-tracking evidence to be sufficiently corroborated where a proper foundation is shown. See, e.g., State v. Salinas, 169 Wn. App. 210, 223, 279 P.3d 917 (2012). Salinas differed from the instant case in several respects. First, the State established Loucks factor (4) (dog placed to track where guilty party has been). In Salinas, Officer Nyhus, the same canine handler used in the instant case, began the track at the victim, rather than at another location, as occurred here. Salinas, 169 Wn. App. at 215.

Thus, the dog-tracking evidence was admissible in <u>Salinas</u> because, unlike here, the proper foundation for admission was met.

169 Wn. App. 223; <u>Loucks</u>, 98 Wn.2d at 566-68. In addition, as

<u>Loucks</u> requires, there was corroborating evidence identifying Mr.

Salinas as the perpetrator of the crime. 98 Wn.2d at 567. Mr. Salinas was specifically identified by DNA recovered from the victim and from other items found near the crime scene. <u>Salinas</u>, 169 Wn. App. 223.

Therefore, because <u>Salinas</u> satisfied the <u>Loucks</u> factors regarding

admissibility of the dog-tracking evidence, as well as sufficient corroboration of the defendant's identity, it is distinguishable from Mr.

Lederle's case.³

In sum, the State failed to prove that this specific dog, Hyde, was competent to perform this track, or that the guilty party had been at the location in the woods where Hyde was placed to track.

Accordingly, Officer Nyhus's testimony about the dog's tracking effort lacked sufficient foundation to be admitted as evidence of guilt.

Loucks, 98 Wn.2d at 566-68.

c. Because the dog-tracking evidence lacked the essential foundation for admissibility, Mr. Lederle was convicted based upon insufficient evidence; the remedy is reversal.

Unlike dog-tracking evidence properly admitted, the track in the instant case was admitted without the required "conditions precedent to admissibility." <u>Loucks</u>, 98 Wn.2d at 566 (citing <u>Socolof</u>, 28 Wn. App. at 411). Because the record fails to show the experience or the track record of the dog, as well as because the track was initiated at the

³ In the instant case, although DNA samples were taken from the stolen truck, the record does not indicate any was a match for Mr. Lederle. In addition, although the State presented testimony concerning a bottle recovered from the ground, there was, likewise, no DNA connecting Mr. Lederle to the bottle. RP 117-18.

wrong location, the evidence lacked the essential foundation for admissibility.

Without the dog track, there was insufficient corroboration of identity. <u>Id</u>. The State may argue that following Mr. Lederle's arrest, Officer Nyhus brought Hyde over to the stolen truck and had the dog track from the truck to the location in the woods where they had started the original track, in order "to confirm that was the right suspect." RP 78. The officer explained how he had "applied Hyde at the driver's door," before having him track back to the location where Mr. Lederle had been apprehended in the woods. RP 79. This explanation, however, offers nothing to corroborate the identification of Mr. Lederle.

Whether or not Officer Nyhus brought the dog over to the stolen vehicle following Mr. Lederle's arrest and then had the dog pick up the scent of the driver, this was immaterial, as the dog was already covered with Mr. Lederle's DNA by then, having bitten Mr. Lederle repeatedly during the arrest. RP 75 ("It's *fass* is the command that's the German command for bite and hold ... In the right forearm is where he originally bit him.").

At trial, even Officer Nyhus admitted that the second "confirmatory" track was unlikely to lead to a different result from the original track, since the dogs are rewarded for tracking the same person. "They [the dogs] are more inclined to track the person they just tracked because they are basically rewarded for finding them." RP 93.4

Given the lack of corroboration or foundation for the dogtracking evidence, as well as the failure of any witness to identify Mr. Lederle, this Court should conclude that there was insufficient evidence to convict Mr. Lederle of either charge.

A conviction may not be entered in the absence of proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every essential element of a crime charged. <u>In re Winship</u>, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970); <u>State v. Cantu</u>, 156 Wn.2d 819, 825, 132 P.3d 725 (2006). An accused person's fundamental right to due process is violated when a conviction is based upon insufficient evidence. <u>Winship</u>, 397 U.S. at 358; U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3; <u>City of Seattle v. Slack</u>, 113 Wn.2d 850, 859, 784 P.2d 494 (1989). Evidence is sufficient to

⁴ During their training, tracking dogs are rewarded with small pieces of hotdog placed in human footsteps every few feet within a trail. RP 90. More experienced police dogs are trained to bite and hold at the end of a track, and although a "bite" of the human target is not exactly a reward, it is considered a motivation for following a human scent. RP 91.

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