FILED
Apr 01, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 73518-7-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS – STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON Respondent,

V.

JESSE DEAN LEDERLE, Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, FOR SKAGIT COUNTY

The Honorable John M. Meyer, Judge

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

SKAGIT COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY RICHARD A. WEYRICH, PROSECUTOR

By: ERIK PEDERSEN, WSBA#20015 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Office Identification #91059

Courthouse Annex 605 South Third Mount Vernon, WA 98273 Ph: (360) 336-9460

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

4/16/16 RP Trial Continuance (in volume with 4/30/15, 5/4/15)

4/23/16 RP Motion to Recalculate Dates (in volume with 4/15/15, 5/21/15)

4/30/15 RP Trial Confirmation (in volume with 4/16/15, 5/4/2015)

5/4/15 RP Trial (in volume with 4/16/15, 4/30/15)

5/21/15 RP Sentencing (in volume with 4/15/15, 4/23/15).

¹ The State will refer to the verbatim report of proceedings by using the date followed by "RP" and the page number. The report of proceedings in this case are as follows:

suspending the sentences on the misdemeanor charges. CP 11, 5/21/15 RP 25.

On May 21, 2015, Lederle timely filed his notice of appeal. CP 29.

2. Summary of Trial Testimony

Officer Chester Curry of the Mount Vernon Police Department was outside talking to a citizen about a suspicious circumstance when he saw a white full-sized pickup truck drive by him at about 50 miles per hour with no headlights and a broken tire. 5/4/15 RP 97-100. Curry pursued the vehicle at 60 to 70 miles per hour to catch up. 5/4/15 RP 101-2. Curry was in uniform in a marked patrol vehicle with lights and siren. 5/4/15 RP 102-3. Curry got about two blocks behind the vehicle when he activated his lights. 5/4/15 RP 104. Curry could hear the engine revving loudly and sparks were coming off the damaged tire. 5/4/15 RP 104-5. The vehicle continued making a turn onto 20th street and accelerated hard, causing extreme sparking with metal and tire being thrown from the damaged tire. 5/4/15 RP 105. The vehicle continued spinning its tires trying to move, but the vehicle stopped moving. 5/4/15 RP 105-6. No brake lights were applied. 5/4/15 RP 105.

Once the vehicle stopped, Curry saw a white male, with a medium build exit the driver's side of the vehicle and flee north through a yard. 5/4/15 RP 106-7. Curry did not get a look at the face of the person, but saw the person was wearing something bright white on a short sleeved T-shirt.

5/4/15 RP 107, 121. Curry did not pursue the person and waited moments for a cover officer to clear the vehicle, finding no one else inside. 5/4/15 RP 107. The engine was still running so another officer reach inside and turned off the truck. 5/4/15 RP 108. Officers checked the immediate area. 5/4/15 RP 108-9. A full vodka bottle was located in the backyard of a house in the direction of where the person fled. 5/4/15 RP 117-8. The homeowner had seen the person who fled the truck in that area. 5/4/15 RP 118.

Containment of the area was set up and a canine was called in to track, arriving about 20 minutes later. 5/4/15 RP 107-8, 128-9. Curry went with the canine officer to a location where a person had been seen, and the dog track was started from there. 5/4/15 RP 109-11, 113. The dog tracked fast making Curry run to keep up. 5/4/15 RP 113. He followed the dog and handler into a green belt where Lederle was found at the base of a big tree. 5/4/15 RP 114. Curry could see a pair of legs sticking out. 5/4/15 RP 114. Curry got a view of Lederle and a bright white lettered T-shirt. 5/4/15 RP 115. Lederle was not compliant with commands and kept struggling. 5/4/15 RP 115. It was not until the canine officer said he was going to reapply the dog that Lederle began complying. 5/4/15 RP 124. Curry was able to holster his Taser and handcuff Lederle. 5/4/15 RP 124.

After Lederle was in custody, he asked Curry "Why are you bothering me? I'm transient and sleeping in the woods." 5/4/15 RP 125. Lederle also asked why they couldn't just leave him alone. 5/4/15 RP 125.

Upon arrest, a cell phone was located in Lederle's pocket. 5/4/15 RP 119. The clothing worn by Lederle was collected and admitted into evidence at trial. 5/4/15 RP 120-3.

Melinda Mason was having a cigarette on her patio at about 10:30 or 11:00 p.m. in February 2015. 5/4/15 RP 16-7. It was dark out when she saw a number of law enforcement on a neighboring block and saw a white man come out from behind a neighbor's building and head along a grassy area. 5/4/15 RP 17, 22-3. Thinking police were in the wrong area, she called 911 and an officer with a dog came and followed where the man had been. 5/4/15 RP 17-9. When Mason showed them where the man had gone through, "the dog was on the trail already." 5/4/15 RP 22.

Sean O'Neil of Draper Valley Farms was a maintenance supervisor who got a call from Mount Vernon Police in February of 2015 about a stolen truck. 5/4/15 RP 25-6. O'Neil went on a street near a church on Hoag Road to retrieve the truck sitting in the middle of the road. 5/4/15 RP 27, 32. The truck had damage on the bed above the right rear wheel, a blown passenger rear tire and above the tail light. 5/4/15 RP 31.

O'Neil had last seen the 2015 Ford F-150 owned by Draper Valley Farms at the address of the business near the office. 5/4/15 RP 27, 30. The manager typically used the truck but was out of the area. 5/4/15 RP 28, 33. O'Neil followed tire tracks from where the vehicle was parked to where a fire hydrant was hit. 5/4/15 RP 30-1. O'Neil later saw tire tracks leading through a nearby field and back on to the road. 5/4/15 RP 31.

Officer Benjamin Green was a patrol officer working on February 23, 2015. 5/4/15 RP 46-7. He responded to the area of the truck and saw the truck running with a rear tire sitting on the rim. 5/4/15 RP 48. The truck was in a small cul-de-sac. 5/4/15 RP 48. The vehicle was still in drive and had gouged the road. 5/4/15 RP 51. Green put the vehicle in park and turned it off. 5/4/15 RP 51. Green and another officer checked the nearby area and called in a canine. 5/4/15 RP 52. The canine and officer arrived about a half-hour later. 5/4/15 RP 52. The area is not an area where people are commonly outside at night. 5/4/15 RP 53. Green later set up containment on Hoag Road east of the vehicle and later to the north. 5/4/15 RP 57-8.

Officer Jason Stofcho took Jesse Lederle to the hospital and then to jail. 5/4/15 RP 59-61. Lederle had scratches on his body from thorns, and claimed to have been bitten by the police canine. 5/4/15 RP 62. Stofcho collected Lederle's clothes. 5/4/15 RP 64.

Officer Jason Nyhus was the officer from Whatcom County Sheriff's Office called to assist. 5/4/15 RP 65, 69. Nyhus had worked for the Whatcom County Sheriff's Office for seventeen years and had been a canine officer for sixteen years. 5/4/15 RP 66. Nyhus had been trained with a certified trainer. 5/4/15 RP 67. With each dog, Nyhus had to go through 400 hours of training for 3 to 4 months before attempting to certify a dog and be able to deploy a dog. 5/4/15 RP 67. Nyhus's dog in the present track was his third dog and he had gone through the training with each dog. 5/4/15 RP 67. In sixteen years as a canine officer, Nyhus had thousands of opportunities to deploy a canine. 5/4/15 RP 67.

Nyhus had worked with the canine Hyde, tht dog he had at the time of the track, for a year. 5/4/15 RP 66, 85. Hyde is a generalist dog trained to track humans, do area tracking for humans, building searches, and criminal apprehension as well as searches for evidence. 5/4/15 RP 67. Nyhus had trained and used Hyde in tracking. 5/4/15 RP 68. Hyde had been trained for tracking and had done hundreds of tracks in the year he had been working. 5/4/15 RP 69, 86, 90.

Nyhus trained his dogs to track odors coming off people that are deposited on the ground. 5/4/15 RP 68. The dogs are trained to find the odor and stay with the specific odor until they find the origin, which is a person.

5/4/15 RP 68. Individuals who are fleeing are excited and pumping off more adrenaline and have an enhanced scent. 5/4/15 RP 94.

Nyhus took Hyde to a spot where a witness had seen a person running from the area a couple of blocks from the stolen vehicle. 5/4/15 RP 69. Nyhus decided to start at that location rather than at the vehicle to increase the chance of apprehending the person because that would avoid the need to track from the vehicle and the Mount Vernon Police had already set up a containment. 5/4/15 RP 70.

At the location, Hyde was put on a long line and was prepared to track. 5/4/15 RP 71. The dog knows they are going to track for humans, again through training and actual street application of repetition of the same thing. 5/4/15 RP 71. Nyhus put the dog on a nice maintained lawn which had not been contaminated since the suspect was seen and gave the cue to track. 5/4/15 RP 71. Hyde started showing indications of human odor on the ground exactly where there were footprints in the dew. 5/4/15 RP 72. Hyde began sniffing more intently showing he had a scent with a jerk of his head in the direction of the track. 5/4/15 RP 72. Hyde tracked in a northeast direction and Nyhus could see footprints in the grass. 5/4/15 RP 72. Hyde was tracking intently and began running on the track. 5/4/15 RP 72-3. Nyhus did not recall seeing anyone outside while doing the track. 5/4/15 RP 73. The

track led across street crossings and yards into a heavily wooded area which was a greenbelt. 5/4/15 RP 74.

Hyde found a person concealed in the greenbelt hiding between the roots of a tree partially concealed by blackberries. 5/4/15 RP 74. As Hyde got near, he gave indications the person was nearby and Nyhus gave canine announcements warning the person that a police dog was being deployed and he needed to come out or he would be bit. 5/4/15 RP 75. After three or four warnings, the person did not come out and Nyhus sent the dog in to bite. 5/4/15 RP 75. Hyde grabbed a hold of the person's forearms and he began failing his arms. 5/4/15 RP 75.

After a few seconds of struggle, the person kept asking why he was being attacked and claimed he was just sleeping there. 5/4/15 RP 76. The statements were not in response to questions. 5/4/15 RP 76. The person still did not come out and did not respond to commands, so another officer went in to get the person into handcuffs. 5/4/15 RP 76. The other officer struggled to get the handcuffs on, so Nyhus had the officer step out and deployed the dog to bite again. 5/4/15 RP 76. That resulted in compliance and officers were able to take the person, identified in court as the defendant, into custody. 5/4/15 RP 77-8.

Where the officers encountered Lederle, there were blackberries all around that officers had to climb over, jump through and push away to get to

the defendant. 5/4/15 RP 77. Nyhus did not see any other possessions in the area where the defendant was located. 5/4/15 RP 77.

After locating Lederle, Nyhus wanted to confirm that Lederle had been the driver, so he applied Hyde at the door of the stolen vehicle and directed Hyde to track which was a direction to search for human odor. 5/4/15 RP 78-9. Hyde started to track in the direction where an officer said the person ran. 5/4/15 RP 79. The dog tracked past where officers had recovered a bottle the driver dropped. 5/4/15 RP 79. The dog continued on the track ending up at Francis Lane where Nyhus had begun the original track with Hyde. 5/4/15 RP 79. Hyde wanted to continue on the track he had already been on, but Nyhus pulled him off the track. 5/4/15 RP 95.

Hyde only went on one track from the truck, indicating there was only one person in the truck. 5/4/15 RP 80. Nyhus had Hyde cast for odors near the truck trying to see if there were others who were in the truck. 5/4/15 RP 81. Hyde did not give an indication of other people leaving that area. 5/4/15 RP 81, 95.

Nyhus went to the hospital to look at the dog bites. 5/4/15 RP 81-2. The dog bites were very minor scratches and abrasions. 5/4/15 RP 82. Lederle also had a number of scratches or brush cuts from going through the blackberries. 5/4/15 RP 82.

On cross examination, Nyhus described the manner in which he trained the dog to track human scent using pieces of hot dogs. 5/4/15 RP 90.

Brennan Price was working at Skagit 911 on February 23, 2015, and was aware of the ongoing track of the person who had been pursued by police. 5/4/15 RP 36. While the track was ongoing, he received an emergency call from somene in Mount Vernon stating that shots were fired at a location in Mount Vernon. 5/4/15 RP 36-7. The call was brief for only about 3 seconds and the person hung up. 5/4/15 RP 37. Price tried to call the number, (360)322-2293. 5/4/15 RP 37-8. But the return call went right to voicemail. 5/4/15 RP 38.

Detective Jerrad Ely a trained digital forensic expert examined the phone that was recovered from Lederle upon arrest which was number (360)322-2293. 5/4/15 RP 39-40, 45. Ely downloaded call logs from the phone. 5/4/15 RP 42. There was no log of 911 calls on the phone because of a feature that allows calls to 911 regardless of whether the phone has service and allows a person to avoid revealing to someone who is a captor that 911 was called. 5/4/15 RP 42.

IV. ARGUMENT

- 1. Failure to object to the dog track evidence below precludes review.
 - i. The defendant's failure to object to admission of the dog track evidence in the trial court precludes raising the issue on appeal.

Lederle failed to object to the admission of the dog track evidence at the trial court. Despite failing to object below, Lederle argues that the trial court erred in admitting the dog tracking evidence arguing the State failed to lay the required foundation. But because Lederle did not make this foundational objection at trial, he did not preserve the claimed error.

Arguments not raised in the trial court will not be considered on appeal unless they concern a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a)(3), *State v. Sengxay*, 80 Wn. App. 11, 15, 906 P.2d 368 (1995) (failure to timely object at trial waives appellate review of nonconstitutional issues). Failure to lay an adequate foundation does not create manifest constitutional error. *State v. Newbern*, 95 Wn. App. 277, 288, 975 P.2d 1041, *rev. denied*, 138 Wn.2d 1018, 989 P.2d 1142 (1999). And the failure to specifically object to an inadequate foundation will not preserve the issue for appeal. *Newbern*, 95 Wn. App. at 288.

ii. The admission of the dog track evidence is not a manifest error affecting a constitutional right such that it would be permitted to be raised for the first time on appeal.

Lederle fails to cite to RAP 2.5(a)(3) to support that he should be permitted to raise the challenge to the dog track evidence for the first time on appeal. This is likely because he would fail to meet the standard.

Bertrand does not show that the instructional error falls within the following RAP 2.5(a)(3) exception to the general error-preservation rule for appeals:

The appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court. However, a party may raise the following claimed errors for the first time in the appellate court: ... manifest error affecting a constitutional right.

As we recently held in *State v. Grimes*, for this RAP 2.5(a)(3) exception to apply, an appellant must show both that (1) the error implicates a specifically identified constitutional right, and (2) the error is "manifest" in that it had "practical and identifiable consequences" in the trial below. See *Grimes*, 165 Wn. App. at 185-87 (quoting *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009)).

State v. Bertrand, 165 Wn. App. 393, 400, 267 P.3d 511 (2011).

Lederle fails to establish how the foundational objection implicates a constitutional right. He also fails to establish that the claimed error was "manifest," having practicable and identifiable consequences.

In the absence of establishing the ability to raise the claimed error for the first time on appeal, review of the issue must be denied.

There is also simply a matter of making the trial proceedings meaningful and respecting the trial court. If defense truly thinks the foundation was not laid, an objection could and should have been made. That would permit the trial judge to rule on the objection and give the opposing side an opportunity to address the objection and remedy the situation. If the State had been unable to remedy the situation, the objection would have been sustained and the dog track evidence excluded, avoiding an appeal and the defendant's confinement. Raising the issue for the first time on appeal defeats the proper role of the trial process.

There is an instinct of fairness due both the trial judge or agency and a litigant's adversary, a sense that one's opponent should have a chance to defend, explain, or rebut some challenged ruling and that the trial judge should have a clear first chance to address the issue. Indeed, if appellate courts were to consider some unpreserved issues but not others, depending on gradations of sympathy, the result would be an extremely uneven playing field.

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